**RECEIVED**

**May 19 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Beaufort County

Honorable Deadra Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTONIO RICARDO LEE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-001405

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

VICTOR R SEEGER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the lower court erred when it refused to compel the state to disclose the identity of the confidential informant where the informant was not merely an observer but an active participant in law enforcement's investigation of Appellant because law enforcement would never have made Appellant a suspect without the informant's undercover work in this case?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the December 2018 term, the Beaufort County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for possession of marijuana; possession with intent to distribute heroin, 2nd offense; trafficking in cocaine more than two-hundred grams but less than four-hundred grams; and possession with intent to distribute a controlled substance within proximity of a park. R. 291-298. Appellant was re-indicted by the Beaufort County Grand Jury during the August 2019 term for the same charges. R. 299-306.

On August 12 – 14, 2019, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Deadra Jefferson, and a jury. R. 1. Jeffrey Stephens and Sharon Carroway represented Appellant. Id. Sarah Fowler and Daniel Gorley represented the state. Id.

Appellant was found guilty on all charges. R. 287, l. 15 – 288, l. 8. Appellant was sentenced to twenty-five years' imprisonment for trafficking cocaine more than two-hundred grams but less than four-hundred grams; eight years' imprisonment for possession with intent to distribute heroin, 2nd offense; eight years' imprisonment for possession with intent to distribute a controlled substance within proximity of a park; one year's imprisonment simple possession of marijuana. R. 289, l. 17 – 290, l. 9. All sentences run concurrently. Id.

This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

Although the State is generally privileged from revealing the name of a confidential informant, disclosure may be required when the informant's identity is relevant and helpful to the defense or is essential for a fair determination of the State's case against the accused. State v. Shupper, 263 S.C. 53, 207 S.E.2d 799 (1974). For instance, if the informant is an active participant in the criminal transaction and/or a material witness on the issue of guilt or innocence, disclosure of his identity may be required depending upon the facts and circumstances. State v. Burney, 294 S.C. 61, 362 S.E.2d 635 (1987); State v. Diamond, 280 S.C. 296, 312 S.E.2d 550 (1984); State v. Batson, 261 S.C. 128, 198 S.E.2d 517 (1973). On the other hand, an informant's identity need not be disclosed where he possesses only a peripheral knowledge of the crime or is a mere “tipster” who supplies a lead to law enforcement. State v. Burney, *supra*; State v. Wright, 322 S.C. 484, 472 S.E.2d 642 (Ct.App.1996). The burden is upon the defendant to show the facts and circumstances entitling him to the disclosure. State v. Humphries, 354 S.C. 87, 90, 579 S.E.2d 613, 614–15 (2003)

## ARGUMENT

The lower court erred when it refused to compel the state to disclose the identity of the confidential informant where the informant was not merely an observer but an active participant in law enforcement's investigation of Appellant because law enforcement would never have made Appellant a suspect without the informant's undercover work in this case.

### **Relevant Facts**

On July 19, 2018, a search warrant was executed at 70 Paddle Boat Lane, Apt. 301 on Hilton Head Island, where Appellant resided. R. 40, ll. 11 – 19. As a result of the search, cocaine and marijuana were found in the apartment and Appellant was arrested. R. 163, ll. 4 – 17; R. 189, l. 20 – 197, l. 3.

Prior to the search warrant being executed, police officers in Beaufort county used a criminal informant for their drug interdiction investigation. R. 7, l. 22 – 10, l. 14. The officers had the informant call a third party, Joseph Atkins, and instructed the informant to ask Atkins if he had drugs. Id. Atkins responded that he did not have drugs but was going to go buy some. Id. At this point, law enforcement had no reason to suspect Appellant of committing a crime.

After hearing that information, produced from informant's active participation in the investigation, the officers followed Atkins to Appellant's home, "where he engaged in what they perceived was a [drug] transaction." Id.; R. 14, ll. 11 – 18. The officers then questioned Atkins and he inculpated Appellant. R. 14, ll. 11 – 18. The officers then began surveillance on Appellant's home and secured a warrant to search the residence. R. 7, l. 22 – 10, l. 14.

Prior to Appellant's trial, defense counsel moved compel the disclosure of the identity of the confidential informant in this case. R. 7, l. 22 – 8, l. 24. Defense counsel argued that to properly challenge the search warrant the defense needed to learn identity of the confidential

informant because the search warrant was based on information derived from the confidential informant's undercover work but the search warrant did not provide information that the informant was reliable.<sup>1</sup> Id. Defense counsel stated that “without being able to review that recording of the phone conversation between the confidential informant [and] Mr. Joey Atkins, or any kind of recorded statement from Mr. Atkins about drug transactions with the [Appellant] ... we have nothing to establish the reliability of the confidential informant or to show probable cause.” R. 8, ll. 15 – 23.

The state argued that the confidential informant was a “mere tipster who gave information to law enforcement” but the informant's knowledge was “peripheral of the crime.” R. 11, ll. 13 – 20. The state also alleged that since the confidential informant is “not material to the defendant's guilt or innocence” learning his or her identity is not necessary in this case. Id.

The trial court denied the motion to disclose the identity of the confidential informant because “it does not appear that the confidential informant had any direct knowledge of the transaction.” R. 11, l. 25 – 15, l. 8. The trial court stated the confidential informant's identity should not be disclosed because he did not participate in the transaction between Appellant and Atkins. Id. Therefore, the informant was not an active participant.

The drugs discovered from the search were admitted to trial and as a result, Appellant was found guilty as indicted. R. 287, l. 15 – 288, l. 4.

## **Discussion**

The lower court erred when it denied Appellant's motion to compel the disclosure of the confidential informant's identity because the informant played an active role in the investigation of Appellant and the evidence obtained from the informant's undercover work was the impetus

---

<sup>1</sup> The search warrant and affidavit were not admitted as exhibits in Appellant's trial.

for the police to procure the search warrant that produced the drugs found in this case. Appellant required disclosure of the identity of the informant because without it Appellant could not properly challenge the search warrant for lack of probable cause and suppress the drugs found from the search of his residence. That error unfairly prejudiced Appellant because his case hinged on the admissibility of the drugs found during the search.

To support a finding of probable cause for a search warrant based on evidence provided by a confidential informant, the state must prove the confidential informant was sufficiently reliable. “[A] warrant based solely on information provided by a confidential informant must contain information supporting the credibility of the informant and the basis of his knowledge.” State v. Coin-Operated Video Game Machs., 338 S.C. 176, 192, 525 S.E.2d 872, 881 (2000). “Mere conclusory statements which give the magistrate no basis to make a judgment regarding probable cause are insufficient.” State v. Smith, 301 S.C. 371, 373, 392 S.E.2d 182, 183 (1990). Sworn oral testimony is permissible to supplement search warrant affidavits which are facially insufficient to establish probable cause. See State v. Weston, 329 S.C. 287, 292, 494 S.E.2d 801, 803 (1997); see also State v. Dill, 423 S.C. 534, 542, 816 S.E.2d 557, 562 (2018), reh'g denied (Aug. 2, 2018).

Furthermore, in determining whether disclosure of the informant’s identity was required, our Courts have recognized a distinction between a “mere tipster” and a “confidential informant.” State v. Humphries, 354 S.C. 87, 90, 579 S.E.2d 613, 614 – 15 (2003). The state is not required to disclose the identity of mere tipster who “possesses only a peripheral knowledge of the crime” or “who supplies a lead to law enforcement.” Id. Whereas the state is required to disclose the identity of a confidential informant who was an “active participant” in the investigation. Id.

In State v. Dill, 423 S.C. 534, 536 – 38, 816 S.E.2d 557, 559 – 60 (2018) Dill was convicted of manufacturing methamphetamine and appealed his conviction because the search warrant lacked probable cause to search his residence. Id. At the pretrial suppression hearing Dill argued the state’s refusal to disclose the informant’s identity made “the position that [he had] in arguing that the warrant should not have been issued based upon the veracity of information provided by the affiant... hampered to the point of almost being unable to make an argument.” Id. at 538, 816 S.E.2d at 560. In response, the state argued that the person who provided police information was not a “confidential informant” but was a “mere tipster” whose identity need not be disclosed. Id.

The affidavit used to procure the search warrant in Dill claimed that the “confidential informant working in an undercover capacity... did see numerous items [at Dill’s residence] that are used in the manufacturing of methamphetamine.” Id. Sergeant Moody testified at the pretrial suppression hearing that he supplemented the affidavit with oral testimony to the magistrate that “the individual who provided information to him was reliable and had been used in two prior cases in which arrests had been made.” Id. at 537, 816 S.E.2d at 559.

Dill contended there was no way for him to properly challenge the charges against him without knowing the identity of the confidential informant. Id. at 539, 816 S.E.2d at 560 – 61. The state responded that “the fact that a confidential informant, the term being used in the search warrant is irrelevant because it is not being used as a term of art in law that this was an *active participant*. But rather this was just someone supplying information.” Id. (emphasis added)

Our Supreme Court held that the affidavit and oral testimony before the magistrate were insufficient for the magistrate to find probable cause that Dill was manufacturing methamphetamine at his residence. Id. at 543, 816 S.E.2d at 562. The Court determined that the

affidavit supplied no information supporting the initial conclusory assertion that there was “an active methamphetamine lab... in operation” and “*In particular, the affidavit does not relate who gave Moody this crucial information.*” Id. (emphasis added)

In State v. Diamond, 280 S.C. 296, 312 S.E.2d 550 (1984) our Supreme court held that the trial court erred when it refused to compel the state to disclose the identity of the confidential informant. Diamond, at 297, 312 S.E.2d at 550. In that case, the informant introduced Diamond to an undercover officer and told Diamond the officer “wanted to pick up a package.” Id. at 298, 312 S.E.2d at 551.

During his trial, Diamond contended that the disclosure of the identity of the informant may have assisted him in his defense of misidentification. Id. at 299, 312 S.E.2d at 551. Our Supreme Court held “considering the various factors and circumstances surrounding the drug transaction and the testimony given by the police officers,” the trial court erred in refusing to compel the state to disclose the identity of the informant. Id. at 299, 312 S.E.2d at 552. Moreover, the Court stated that, “public policy considerations for nondisclosure of an informant’s identity are absent where the informant openly participates in the criminal transaction.” Id. at 299, 312 S.E.2d at 551.

In State v. Burney, 294 S.C. 61, 362 S.E.2d 635 (1987) our Supreme Court held that the state was not required to disclose the identity of the informant because he was not an active participant in the investigation. Id. In Burney, the Greenville County Sheriff’s department opened an investigation into Burney and after the investigation began law enforcement had an informant buy cocaine from Burney at his residence. Id. at 62, 362 S.E.2d at 635 – 36. However, the police did not obtain a search warrant at that time, but waited for Burney to possess a larger amount of drugs at his residence. Id.

Ten months later the informant bought drugs from Burney again and this time did observe a large quantity of drugs. *Id.* at 62, 362 S.E.2d at 636. The officers obtained a search warrant, seized drugs, drug paraphernalia, and weapons from Burney's residence and arrested him. *Id.*

Our Supreme Court held that the lower court did not err when it refused to compel the disclosure of the informant's identity because his role was "limited to supplying information regarding Burney's possession of narcotics" and "although he did participate in the controlled buy..., the transaction only served to aid in establishing the informant's reliability." *Id.* at 62 – 63, 362 S.E.2d at 636. It is important to note that the officers in *Burney* *already had an open investigation* on Burney before the informant provided the observations from inside Burney's residence.

In *State v. Humphries*, 354 S.C. 87, 579 S.E.2d 613 (2003) our Supreme Court held that the informant's identity need not be disclosed because "*At the time he made his ruling*, the only information before the trial judge was that the confidential informant notified law enforcement that a package containing illegal narcotics would be delivered by UPS to petitioners' garage." *Id.* at 90, 579 S.E.2d at 615. (emphasis in original) In that case, the informant's only involvement was to notify law enforcement that a package containing drugs was going to be delivered by United Parcel Service (UPS) to Humphries' garage. *Id.* at 90 – 91, 579 S.E.2d at 614. The informant did not participate in any part of the police investigation, and the informant was not present when the package was seized or when it was delivered by the undercover officer. *Id.* Accordingly, disclosure of the tipster's identity was not required because he was a mere "tipster." *Id.* at 90, 579 S.E.2d at 615.

As opposed to *Burney*, there was no open investigation into Appellant before the confidential informant began participating in the investigation. In this case the confidential

informant's active participation was the first step of law enforcement's investigation. R. 7, l. 22 – 10, l. 14; See Burney, at 62, 362 S.E.2d at 635 – 36. Accordingly, the informant's role in the investigation of Appellant was crucial because law enforcement would have had not made Appellant a suspect but for the recorded phone call from the confidential informant to Atkins.

Moreover, as opposed to the informant in Humphries, the informant's value in this case was not in any observation he relayed to law enforcement, but in his undercover work during the phone call. R. 7, l. 22 – 10, l. 14; Humphries, at 89, 579 S.E.2d at 614. Accordingly, much like the informants in Dill and Diamond, the confidential informant in this case was an active participant of the investigation. The informant provided critical information against Appellant such that his disclosure was necessary for Appellant's defense and the trial court's refusal to compel the disclosure of the informant was an error. Dill, at 543, 816 S.E.2d at 562; Diamond, at 299, 312 S.E.2d at 551 – 52.

The trial court's refusal to compel disclosure of the informant's identity left Appellant unable to challenge the probable cause supporting the search warrant such that his ability to argue at trial for suppression of the drugs was impermissibly hampered. Appellant's entire case hinged on his ability to suppress the drugs found during the wrongful search of his residence; thus, the trial court's error prejudiced Appellant because it eliminated his ability to argue for suppression.

**CONCLUSION**

By reason of the forgoing arguments, Appellant's conviction should be reversed, and this case remanded to the Beaufort County Court of General Sessions for a new trial



Victor R Seeger  
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

This 19<sup>th</sup> day of May, 2021.

**RECEIVED**


**May 19 2021**