**RECEIVED**

**Apr 29 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Beaufort County  
Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2019-001405

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ANTONIO RICARDO LEE,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE, III  
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880  
Bluffton, SC 29910  
(843) 255-588

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**The trial judge did not abuse her discretion by refusing to require the disclosure of the confidential informant's identity because the informant was neither an active participant in any of the criminal activity upon which Appellant's drug charges were based nor a material witness on the issue of Appellant's guilt or innocence and, therefore, the informant's identity did not have to be disclosed since it was not relevant to Appellant's defense to the charges or essential to the fair resolution of Appellant's case.**

Appellant contends the trial judge committed reversible error by refusing to require the solicitor to disclose the identity of the confidential informant. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains he was entitled to the disclosure of the informant's identity because the informant purportedly played an active role in the investigation, the informant's work was the impetus that led the officers to obtain the search warrant that resulted in the discovery of the drugs, and he supposedly could not properly challenge the search warrant that led to the "wrongful" search of his residence on the basis probable cause was lacking without knowing the informant's identity. Contrary to Appellant's contention, the trial judge properly declined to require the disclosure of the confidential informant's identity because the informant was only peripherally connected to Appellant's case and did not have any direct involvement with Appellant, the apartment that was searched, or the drugs for which Appellant was ultimately charged. Under such circumstances, the identity of the confidential informant was neither necessary for Appellant to be able to prepare his defense to the charges nor essential for Appellant's case to be fairly resolved. As a result, the trial judge did not abuse her discretion by refusing to require disclosure of the confidential informant's identity, and Appellant failed—both at the trial level and on appeal—to provide a valid or compelling reason justifying the disclosure of that information. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

As has long been recognized in South Carolina and throughout the nation, confidential informants are highly important to the effective functioning of law enforcement, and, as a result,

the prosecution is *generally* privileged to withhold the identity of a confidential informant who provides assistance to law enforcement regarding a crime as a matter of sound public policy. Roviaro v. United States, 353 U.S. 53, 59 (1957); Batson, 261 S.C. at 133, 198 S.E.2d at 519; see State v. Bultron, 318 S.C. 323, 330, 457 S.E.2d 616, 620 (Ct. App. 1995) (“Generally, the State may not be compelled to disclose the names of its confidential informants.”); State v. Bernotas, 277 S.C. 106, 109, 283 S.E.2d 580, 581 (1981) (“This privilege is necessary for protecting law enforcement.”). By maintaining the anonymity of informants, the prosecution is able to encourage an informant to fulfil his or her civic duty to provide assistance the informant might not otherwise be willing to provide without being able to remain anonymous and to protect the informant from harm that might be sought to be inflicted by those whose criminal activity has been exposed. Roviaro, 353 U.S. at 59; see McCray v. Illinois, 386 U.S. 300, 308 (1967) (“Whether an informer is motivated by good citizenship, promise of leniency or prospect of pecuniary reward, he will usually condition his cooperation on an assurance of anonymity—to protect himself and his family from harm, to preclude adverse social reactions and to avoid the risk of defamation or malicious prosecution actions against him.” (citation omitted)); Roviaro, 353 U.S. at 57 (Clark, J., dissenting) (“To give [informants] protection governments have always followed a policy of nondisclosure of their identities. Experience teaches that once this policy is relaxed . . . its effectiveness is destroyed. Once an informant is known the drug traffickers are quick to retaliate. Dead men tell no tales. The old penalty of tongue removal, once visited upon the informer Larunda, has been found obsolete.”).

Importantly though, the privilege against disclosure of the identity of a confidential informant is *not* absolute. Batson, 261 S.C. at 133, 198 S.E.2d at 519; see Bernotas, 277 S.C. at 109, 283 S.E.2d at 581 (“While this privilege is not absolute, disclosures should only be made

when the informer's identity would be relevant to the accused's defense."). Instead, "[w]here the disclosure of an informant's identity, or of the contents of his communication, is relevant and helpful to the defense of an accused, or is essential to a fair determination of a cause, the privilege must give way." Roviaro, 353 U.S. at 60-61. As a result, whether disclosure is required necessarily depends on the particular circumstances of each individual case, and the trial judge "must balance the public interest in protecting the flow of information of criminal activities against the individual's right to prepare his defense." Wright, 322 S.C. at 487, 472 S.E.2d at 644. When conducting such a balancing analysis, the trial judge should consider factors such as the specific crime charged, the possible defenses to that crime, and the potential significance of the informer's testimony to the case. Roviaro, 353 U.S. at 62.

Typically, a confidential informant's identity does not have to be disclosed when the informant "possesses only a peripheral knowledge of the crime" or is "a mere tipster who supplies a lead to law enforcement authorities." State v. Blyther, 287 S.C. 31, 33, 336 S.E.2d 151, 152 (Ct. App. 1985); see State v. Hayward, 302 S.C. 75, 76, 393 S.E.2d 918, 919 (1990) ("Where it has not been shown that the informants were participants in, or material witnesses to, the alleged criminal transaction, we have refused to compel disclosure."); Wright, 322 S.C. at 488, 472 S.E.2d at 645 ("The disclosure of the identity of one who is merely an informer and not a participant nor material witness is generally not required."). Meanwhile, if "the informant either is a material witness to the crime or directly participates in it, disclosure *may* be required, . . . particularly where, in a drug related case, [the informant] is the only witness to the transaction other than the buyer and the defendant." Blyther, 287 S.C. 31, 33, 336 S.E.2d at 153 (citations omitted and emphasis added); see State v. Diamond, 280 S.C. 296, 299, 312 S.E.2d 550, 551 (1984) ("Public policy considerations for nondisclosure of an informant's identity are absent

where the informant openly participates in the criminal transaction.”). Significantly though, “[e]ven if the informant is an active participant in the criminal act and/or a material witness, the court *may still* sustain an invocation of the nondisclosure privilege if other factors and circumstances warrant doing so.” Bultron, 318 S.C. at 330, 457 S.E.2d at 620 (emphasis added); see State v. Riggins, 262 S.C. 466, 468, 205 S.E.2d 376, 377 (1974) (holding the trial judge properly declined to provide the name of a confidential informant even though the informant was present when Riggins sold marijuana to an undercover officer); cf. Wright, 322 S.C. at 489, 472 S.E.2d at 645 (concluding a confidential informant’s identity did not have to be disclosed even though the informant actually witnessed the transaction for which Wright was charged to some extent).

When seeking the disclosure of the identity of a confidential informant, the defendant bears the burden of establishing disclosure is warranted under the circumstances involved and must show “facts and circumstances giving rise to an exception to the privilege against disclosure[.]” Batson, 261 S.C. at 134, 198 S.E.2d at 520; cf. State v. Humphries, 354 S.C. 87, 90, 579 S.E.2d 613, 615 (2003) (concluding the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by refusing to require disclosure of a confidential informant’s identity because the petitioners “failed to meet their burden establishing the informant was anything more than a mere tipster”). Moreover, mere speculation about the potential usefulness of the informant’s identity is *not* sufficient to meet that burden. United States v. Blevins, 960 F.2d 1252, 1259 (4th Cir. 1992); see United States v. Valles, 41 F.3d 355, 358 (7th Cir. 1994) (“The confidential informant privilege will not yield to permit a mere fishing expedition, nor upon bare speculation that the information may possibly prove useful.” (citation and internal quotations omitted)); cf. State v. Barron, 266 S.C. 433, 435, 223 S.E.2d 859, 860 (1976) (“When, as here, appellant’s counsel

does not contend that he was denied a fair trial but, instead, assert in oral argument that any testimony by the informant would have been purely conjectural, there was no abuse of discretion.”).

In the case sub judice, the trial judge properly declined to require the disclosure of the confidential informant’s identity because the disclosure of that information was not relevant, significant, or essential to any aspect of Appellant’s defense or to the fair resolution of the case when the circumstances involved are properly considered. Looking to those circumstances, Appellant’s charges stemmed solely from his possession of drugs found in the apartment and *not* from any transactions he conducted with anyone else, including Atkins or the confidential informant. Compare Bultron, 318 S.C. at 331, 457 S.E.2d at 621 (finding disclosure of the identity of a confidential informant was not required where “[t]he State presented evidence Appellants were in constructive possession of the narcotics independent of the information offered by the informant”); with Diamond, 280 S.C. at 298, 312 S.E.2d at 551 (holding the trial judge erred by refusing to require disclosure of the identity of a confidential informant when “[t]he informant was clearly a participant in the transaction” in light of the fact Diamond directly gave the heroin *to the informant* before the informant handed it over to an undercover police officer). Meanwhile, the confidential informant merely provided information about an interaction with another individual—Atkins—that led law enforcement to begin conducting surveillance of that individual. See United States v. Fisher, 440 F.2d 654, 656 (4th Cir. 1971) (“[T]he informant was used only for the limited purpose of obtaining a search warrant. It is *well established* that the government is privileged to withhold the identity of such informants.” (emphasis added)); cf. Bernotas, 277 S.C. at 109, 283 S.E.2d at 581 (finding the trial judge properly refused to require disclosure of the identity of a confidential informant when “it was not

shown that the informer was a participant” in the charged crime and, instead, the informant only provided information that led to a stop that ended in the discovery of drugs in Bernotas’s possession). Following that, Atkins, whose identity was *not* concealed from Appellant, personally led law enforcement to uncover Appellant’s criminal enterprise through the things he did while being surveilled, and the confidential informant, who was neither a witness to nor a participant in anything for which Appellant was criminally charged, had no further involvement of any kind in the matter. Cf. State v. Shupper, 263 S.C. 53, 56, 207 S.E.2d 799, 800 (1974) (holding disclosure of a confidential informant’s identity was not required when the informant merely supplied the information *that led to a search warrant being obtained* and “was not otherwise a participant or witness”). Under such circumstances, the confidential informant’s identity was not material, relevant, or significant to any aspect of Appellant’s defense or to a fair resolution of Appellant’s case since the informant—who did not even directly provide any information about the presence of the narcotics that were found in the apartment—was merely a tipster who supplied a lead that steered law enforcement’s investigation in a direction that ultimately led to Appellant’s criminal activity being uncovered based on surveillance conducted of someone *other than* the informant himself or herself. See McLawhorn v. North Carolina, 484 F.2d 1, 5 (4th Cir. 1973) (recognizing “the generally accepted rule” is the identity of an informant who “merely provides a lead or tip that furnishes probable cause for a search and seizure” does *not* have to be disclosed); cf. Bultron, 318 S.C. at 331, 457 S.E.2d at 620 (“The informant’s role in this case was limited to calling the police and stating he had observed a quantity of cocaine in a hotel room.”).

In arguing disclosure was required, Appellant suggests the informant’s identity *may* have somehow been relevant and necessary for purposes of attempting to mount an attack on the

validity of the search warrant itself since the informant was involved in the investigation that led to the discovery of Appellant's crimes. Critically though, involvement in a criminal investigation standing alone does *not* require disclosure of a confidential informant's identity, or the privilege against disclosure simply would not and could not exist since an informant whose identity is being sought will inevitably have done something that furthered an investigation into criminal activity.<sup>6</sup> Cf. Humphries, 354 S.C. at 89-90, 579 S.E.2d at 614 (concluding the trial judge correctly declined to require disclosure of a confidential informant's identity even though the information provided by the informant led to the discovery of the Humphries' drugs because the informant "was not present when the package was seized, the dog identified the package as containing drugs, or when the package was delivered to the garage by the undercover officer"); State v. Burney, 294 S.C. 61, 63, 362 S.E.2d 635, 636 (1987) (classifying a confidential informant as a "tipster" and finding disclosure of the informant's identity was *not* required when the informant made a controlled buy from Burney and provided information used to obtain a search warrant for Burney's residence that led to the discovery of the drugs and other evidence that gave rise to Burney's criminal charges). Likewise, a desire to mount a conjectural attack upon a search warrant simply does *not* constitute a valid ground requiring disclosure of a

---

<sup>6</sup> As support for the argument he is raising on appeal, Appellant alleges—while citing to State v. Humphries, 354 S.C. 87, 579 S.E.2d 613 (2003)—our courts have found disclosure *is* required when the informant was an " 'active participant' in the *investigation*." (App. Br. p. 6) (emphasis added). However though, that is not what our Supreme Court stated in Humphries, and the word "investigation" did not appear anywhere in that decision. Humphries, 354 S.C. at 90, 579 S.E.2d at 614-615. Instead, in Humphries, our Supreme Court simply acknowledged the well-established and non-controversial rule that disclosure generally is required when the informant is "an active participant *in the criminal transaction* and/or a material witness on the issue of guilt or innocence." Id. at 90, 579 S.E.2d at 615 (emphasis added); cf. Roviaro, 353 U.S. at 64 (concluding disclosure was required "where the Government's informer was the sole participant, other than the accused, *in the transaction charged*" (emphasis added)). Significantly, the distinction between what Appellant claims was stated in Humphries and what was actually stated in that decision is one that very much matters, and it strongly demonstrates the faulty nature of the position Appellant is now advancing on appeal.

confidential informant's identity. See United States v. Whiting, 311 F.2d 191, 196 (4th Cir. 1962) (finding the identity of a confidential informant was properly withheld because, "as the attorney for the defendants admitted, the names of the informers were wanted in support of the effort to invalidate the search warrant and not to help the defendants in the presentation of their case"); cf. Rugendorf v. United States, 376 U.S. 528, 534 (1964) ("[A] careful examination of the whole record shows that *he requested the informers' names only in his attack on the affidavit supporting the search warrant*. Having failed to develop the criteria of Roviario necessitating disclosure on the merits, we cannot say on this record that the name of the informant was necessary to his defense. All petitioner's demands for identification of the informants were made during the hearings on the motion to suppress and were related to that motion. *Never did petitioner's counsel indicate how the informants' testimony could help establish petitioner's innocence.*" (emphasis added and footnote omitted)); Shupper, 263 S.C. at 56, 207 S.E.2d at 800 (concluding a confidential informant's identity did not have to be disclosed because the informant only supplied the information that led to a search warrant being obtained). Moreover, as recognized by the trial judge, the probable cause basis for the search warrant issued in Appellant's case was primarily based upon the information obtained through the officers' surveillance of and interactions with Atkins, who was found to be in possession of drugs after making a brief trip to the apartment and who made incriminating admissions suggesting he had just purchased the drugs from Appellant, instead of upon the limited information provided by the informant, which demonstrates the informant's identity was not something that would have aided Appellant in obtaining suppression of the evidence found in the search even if it had been disclosed.<sup>7</sup> See United States v. Harris, 403 U.S. 573, 583-584 (1971) ("Common sense in the

---

<sup>7</sup> Notably, despite being fully aware of Atkins's identity, Appellant did *not* attempt to call Atkins

important daily affairs of life would induce a prudent and disinterested observer to credit these statements. People do not lightly admit to a crime and place critical evidence in the hands of the police in the form of their own admissions. Admissions of crime, like admissions against proprietary interests, carry their own indicia of credibility—sufficient at least to support a finding of probable cause to search.”); see also State v. Driggers, 322 S.C. 506, 514, 473 S.E.2d 57, 61 (Ct. App. 1996) (“Klepp-Egge also acted against his best interests by providing the police with information that possibly linked him to the crime.”). Under such circumstances, it remains entirely unclear how disclosure of the confidential informant’s identity would have aided Appellant in any meaningful way aside from potentially enabling him—or one of his associates—to enact some form of revenge upon an individual peripherally involved in bringing a halt to a lucrative criminal enterprise.<sup>8</sup> See Shupper, 263 S.C. at 57, 207 S.E.2d at 800 (finding no error in the refusal to require disclosure of the confidential informant’s identity when the defendant made no showing his position would have been improved by the disclosure of that information).

---

as a witness in his defense. (R. p. 241).

<sup>8</sup> In an effort to demonstrate how the confidential informant’s identity might have been pertinent to his case, Appellant relies heavily on our Supreme Court’s recent decision in State v. Dill, 423 S.C. 534, 816 S.E.2d 557 (2018). (App. Br. pp. 7-8; p. 10). In Dill, our Supreme Court reversed Dill’s conviction for manufacturing methamphetamine, but the reason it did so was not based on the non-disclosure of a confidential informant’s identity. State v. Dill, 423 S.C. 534, 545, 816 S.E.2d 557, 563 (2018). Instead, after finding sufficient information regarding the informant’s reliability had arguably been supplied to the magistrate who issued the search warrant, the Supreme Court reversed because it determined the warrant was nonetheless invalid because the critical information that was presented to establish a probable cause basis for the search was not attributed to the informant or *anyone else* and, instead, was wholly conclusory in nature. Id. at 544, 816 S.E.2d at 563. In light of that, it is not readily apparent how the decision in Dill strengthens or aids Appellant’s position in the case at bar since Dill was resolved on a basis totally unrelated to the non-disclosure of the informant’s identity to Dill.

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